1963

Richard E. Ashby v. Whiting & Haymond Construction Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action for personal injuries and property damage arising out of a collision between a pickup truck driven by the plaintiff and an automobile driven by Verl Justesen. Justesen was *not* the employee or agent of the defendant Construction Company. He was not a party to the lawsuit.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court. It held the defendant Construction Company liable for not replacing and maintaining a stop sign located at the intersection where the accident occurred. From a judgment for the plaintiff, defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in its favor, as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following statement of facts views the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. It also includes the *undisputed* facts which favor the defendant. For the purpose of identification the court record will be referred to by "R" and the reporter's transcript by "T".

At about 6:30 p.m. on Saturday, October 29, 1960, the plaintiff was driving east in his 1955 Chevrolet pickup on Highway U 100 (First North Street) in Fillmore, Utah. (T9) The defendant construction company had been working on Highway U 100 since September 1, 1960. (T 123). The project involved putting in a concrete ditch to act as a ditch and curb and gutter on the north side of the street, curb and gutter on the south side of the street, and resurfacing the road and intersections from curb to curb. (T 124). *The defendant had taken down and replaced the stop signs in order to complete the project.* The plaintiff had driven to work on Highway U 100 whenever it was open. (T 44) He had noticed the stop signs were down at the intersection of Highway U 100 and First, Second and Third West, except for the one on the south side of Third West (T 43). He had seen equipment working in the area where the stop signs were (T 43). The plaintiff was driving with his lights on high

beam then dimmed his lights for another vehicle coming west on Highway U 100. (T 51). As the plaintiff approached the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West he passed the vehicle going west. (T 10) When the plaintiff entered the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West he did not remember that he looked to the north. (T 49)

Q. That's what I am saying is, you were looking straight ahead?

A. Yes.

Q. As you were going east and you did not look to to the north?

A. No, not that I remember.

Q. Not that you can remember?

A. No. (T 48)

Plaintiff did not remember seeing anything before the impact. (T 11). His vehicle was struck on the left side by an automobile driven by Verl Justesen. (T 87) Justesen was proceeding south on Second West when he entered the intersection of Second West and Highway U 100 and struck the plaintiff's pickup between the cab and the back fender (T 87). The pickup truck was rolled over, the fenders and the bed were bent and the glass was broken by the force of the impact. The front end of the Plymouth driven by Justesen was all smashed. (T 87). *Justesen told Fillmore police officer, Merlin Hare, he was going 40 m.p.h. when he entered the intersection.* (T. 90) *Justesen also told Officer Hare he had been drinking prior to the collision.* (T 97)

The automobile driven by Justesen left 25 feet of skid marks commencing just south of the cross walk on the

north side of the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West Street and continuing up to the point of impact. The officer measured an additional 30 feet of skid marks from the point of impact to where the Justesen vehicle finally came to a rest. (T 88, 91)

There were no skid marks left by the plaintiff's truck before the impact. (T 88). The pickup truck skided 33 feet after the impact, then rolled over 50 feet before it came to a rest. (T 95).

Verl Justesen had been driving a milk truck up and down Highway U 100 every day for a period of time prior to the accident. Officer Hare testified:

Q. You were acquainted with him (Verl Justesen) at the time of this accident?

A. Right.

Q. And you know of your own knowledge that he had been driving a truck up and down Highway U 100 prior to this accident?

A. That's right.

Q. Did he tell you for whom?

A. Floyd Killis' milk route.

Q. Did he have occasion because of his employment to drive this street every day?

A. Yes.

Q. That was for a period of time before the accident occurred?

A. Yes. Yes, that was prior to the accident.

Q. About how long had he lived in Fillmore prior to this accident?

A. Well, I don't know for sure but I'd say at least two or three years he had been in the area.

Q. Your testimony would be, then, that to the

best of your knowledge, he traveled this street during the period of construction?

A. Yes. (T 98)

Grant Palfreyman, construction foreman for defendant testified that when the construction crew moved into the area of Second West and Highway U 100, the stop sign on the Northwest corner of the intersection was down. (T 125).

Each evening when the construction crew left the area, Mr. Palfreyman propped the stop sign against a "construction horse" and placed it at the Northwest corner of the intersection. (T 126-128)

Mr. Palfreyman testified the construction horse was painted a safety yellow with reflectorized stripes which were either red and white or black and white. There was also a "slow" sign approximately 2 foot square bolted to the construction horse. (T 128)

During the day when the defendant's construction crew was working, the construction horse and stop sign were moved out of working area. (T 126)

It is undisputed that when Defendant's crew left the job site on the evening of Friday, October 28, 1960, the stop sign was "toe-nailed" to a construction horse and set on the northwest corner of the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West street. (T 126-127)

With regard to where the construction horse was placed on the evening of October 28, 1960, Mr. Palfreyman testified:

"Q. And now, could you tell us approximately where that sign was placed by yourself on that night?

A. Approximately at the edge of the old cross walk because we didn't have the oil laid out from the intersection at that time. The oil was laid in a strip about 60 feet wide down through the center of the road from Highway 91 down to approximately Fifth West.

Q. And is it your recollection that the sign was close to the cross walk, the old cross walk that went across the street there?

A. That's right." (T 128)

Defendant's crew did not work on Saturday, October 29th the day the accident happened. (T 144)

When defendant's crew returned to the job site on Monday, October 31st a police officer of Fillmore City rounded up a group of boys, had them get a tractor and a wagon and bring back some of the construction signs which had been taken from the area. (T 127) *One of the signs returned was the stop sign for the northwest corner of the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West. (T 127)*

Trooper Gayle C. Rasmussen of the Utah Highway Patrol testified that the normal reaction time for a driver is one-half to three-fourths of a second, so that a driver going 40 m.p.h. would travel 30 to 45 feet from the time he observed the danger until he applied his brakes. (T 107).

Trooper Rasmussen testified that the stop sign on the northwest corner of the intersection of Highway U

100 and Second West was laying on the ground near a mound of dirt after the accident (T 104). He also testified the stop sign had been down for several days prior to the accident. (T 105)

Maxim P. Thornton, an employee of Fillmore City, testified the stop sign had been down most of the week before the accident. (T 66) *Thornton did recall there were construction horses at the intersections of First, Second and Third West and Highway U 100, but he could not recall whether he saw the construction horse on Saturday, October 29th or not. (T 69).*

Everett Ashman who resides in the house on the northwest corner of the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West Street testified the stop sign at that particular corner was down for about a week during the latter part of October. (T 79-80) *He remembered seeing a "construction-horse" by the culvert on the northwest corner of the intersection of Second West and Highway U 100 where the stop sign was. (T 80).*

Defendant was unable to locate Verl Justesen at the time of trial. He did not testify nor was he made a party to the action. (R-1)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ABSENCE OF THE STOP SIGN (IF IT WAS ABSENT) WAS NOT A CAUSE OF THE COLLISION

Defendant respectfully submits that there is no evidence in the record to support a finding that it was negligent. If the Court should hold the record does support such a finding, such negligence was *not* a proximate cause of the accident. *The proximate cause of this accident was the negligence of Verl Justesen.*

The record conclusively shows that Justesen knew the area where the accident happened as he had been driving a milk truck up and down Highway U 100 every day for some time prior to the accident. Officer Merlin Hare testified that Justesen had traveled Highway U 100 during the period of the construction and was familiar with the intersection.

The testimony of Officer Hare on this point is undisputed. Justesen must be charged with the knowledge that the stop sign was removed the week before the accident so equipment could work in the intersection, as he drove the street every day. *Justesen knew he was approaching a state highway as he drove south on Second West Street.* He knew he had the duty to yield the right of way to vehicles traveling on the state highway.

The Utah Code Provides:

"Vehicle entering a through highway.—The driver of a vehicle shall stop as required by this act at the entrance to a through highway and shall yield the right of way to other vehicles which have entered the intersection from said through highway or which are approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard but said driver having so yielded may pro-

ceed and the drivers of all other vehicles approaching the intersection on said through highway shall yield the right of way to the vehicle so proceeding into or across the through highway." (U.C.A. 1953 41-6-74) (*Italics ours*)

If the stop sign had been up, it would not have given Justesen any more warning of the highway or of the plaintiff's vehicle than he already had.

In *Haarstrich v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.* 70 Utah 552, 262 Pac. 100, (Utah 1927) this court was confronted with facts similar to the instant case. In that case the plaintiff a guest passenger in an automobile, claimed the defendant, railroad was negligent for failing to have proper signals at the crossing in North Salt Lake. The plaintiff was injured when the automobile in which she was riding collided with a freight train at the crossing around 1:15 a.m. The evidence disclosed that the driver of the automobile had a clear view of the train for 150 feet or more yet he failed to see it until it was too late to avoid the collision. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and the defendant appealed. The Supreme Court reversed holding the negligence of the Railroad company in not complying with the law as to warnings and signals, was not a proximate cause of the accident.

The question on appeal was whether the negligence of the defendant, if any, was a proximate cause of the injury sustained by the plaintiff. The court held it was not, stating:

"The street lights were functioning, and there appears to have been no reason whatever why he

could not have stopped his car and avoided the collision if he had looked ahead and applied his brakes at the proper time. *In view of the indubitable facts disclosed by the evidence, it is wholly immaterial whether the defendant strictly complied with the law as to warnings and signals. Its failure in that regard, if there was a failure, which is very doubtful, had nothing whatever to do with the accident and was in no sense the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury.*" (Italics ours)

In the instant case, the fact that the stop sign was down has no bearing whatsoever on the cause of the plaintiff's injuries. Justesen *knew* he was approaching a highway from a secondary road and he *saw* the plaintiff's vehicle on the highway. His negligence in failing to yield the right of way was the proximate cause of the accident.

In *Hillyard v. Utah By-Products Co.* 1 Utah 2d 143, 263 P.2d 287 (Utah 1953) this court announced the rule that where one has negligently created a dangerous condition and a later actor observed or circumstances are such that he could not fail to observe such condition, but negligently failed to avoid it, then *as a matter of law the later intervening act interrupts the natural sequence of events and cuts off the legal effect of the negligence of the initial actor.*

In *Toma v. Utah Power & Light Co.* 12 Utah 2d 278, 365 P.2d 788 (Utah 1961); and *Velasquez v. Greyhound Lines*, 12 Utah 2d 379, 366 P.2d 989 (Utah 1961), this court held that where the later actor *knew* of the condition created by the prior actor, but negligently failed to avoid

it, the negligence of the later actor cut off the prior negligence and became the sole proximate cause of the accident.

In the *Toma* case an action was brought by the administratrix of the Estate of Fred R. Shook, Jr. against the Utah Power & Light Company alleging Shook was killed because of the negligence of the defendant. With regard to the matter of proximate cause, the evidence proved that the deceased's employer *knew* that the defendant's power lines were energized at the time of the pouring of cement. The deceased's employer failed to take any acts to have the power cut off. Shook was electrocuted when a crane lowering a bucket into a truck he was driving, came into contact with a "hot" wire.

This Court stated:

"Examining the facts of the case at bar in light of this case, *we observe the Mountain States Construction Company knew the involved wires were live at the time of the pouring of cement on the south side September 5, 1956.* Mr. Waldren testified he had been told power would not be cut off. Thus, even though the Utah Power & Light Company had negligently created a dangerous situation, and negligently continued to maintain such a condition by refusing to cut off the power, the Mountain States Construction Company did have knowledge of such condition and failed to avoid the impending disaster. On the contrary the Mountain States Construction Company put into motion the actions which created the accident. It is not that the Mountain States Construction Company failed to observe a dangerous condition until too late to avoid it. In fact the Mountain States Construction

Company knew of the condition for four days.”
(Italics ours)

* * *

“While we attach no particular significance to the plaintiff’s pull, we do believe and so hold, from plaintiff’s own evidence, that as a matter of law the negligence of the Mountain States Construction Company as hereinbefore set out was the sole proximate cause of the accident. So holding, the judgment of the District Court is affirmed. Costs to respondent.”

A directed verdict in favor of the defendant was sustained by the Supreme Court.

In the *Velasquez* case *supra*, an action was brought for injuries sustained by a passenger on a bus which collided with the rear of a semi trailer stopped on the side of the highway. The action was brought against the bus company and the owner of the semi trailer.

The evidence disclosed that the driver of the semi trailer stopped his truck at night to help another motorist with approximately 7 feet of the trailer protruding on to the traveled portion of an interstate highway. The truck’s clearance lights, stop lights and blinker lights were on when the truck driver alighted. The Greyhound bus driver admitted he saw the truck as he approached. He said he intended to stop behind the truck to render assistance and to add the benefit of his lights to the scene. The evidence disclosed the bus driver lost consciousness by either falling to sleep or blacking out from some other

cause. He was aroused to consciousness by the cry of a woman passenger "Don't hit it". He swerved the bus but not in time to avoid hitting the left rear corner of the truck.

The question on appeal was whether the negligence of Greyhound was the sole proximate cause of the injury or whether the prior parking of the truck so as to partially obstruct the lane of traffic was a concurring proximate cause of the collision.

The court stated:

"In determining whether the negligence in creating a hazard (Interstate's parking the truck) was a proximate cause of the collision, this is the test to be applied: did the wrongful act, in a natural and continuous sequence of events which might reasonably be expected to follow, produce the injury. If so, it can be said to be a concurring proximate cause of the injury even though the later negligent act of another (Greyhound) cooperated to cause it. On the other hand, if the latter's act of negligence in causing the collision was of such character as not reasonably to be expected to happen in the natural sequence of events, then such later act of negligence is the independent, intervening cause and therefore the sole proximate cause of the injury.

"Applying the foregoing test to our situation: we think it is not reasonably to be foreseen that an oncoming driver (Greyhound) would see (or fail to see) this large, well-lighted truck so parked upon the highway, and with at least one and one-half usable traffic lanes to his left nevertheless run into it. The trial court was correct in so concluding

and entered a judgment in favor of Interstate Motor Lines as a matter of law on the ground that the negligence of Greyhound was the sole proximate cause of the collision."

The fact that the Greyhound bus driver saw the truck then failed to avoid it resulted in his negligence being the sole proximate cause of the accident.

Defendant respectfully submits that these two recent Utah cases are persuasive authority that defendant's negligence, if any, was not a proximate cause of this accident

Justesen *knew* that he was entering an intersection yet he failed to slow down or take any action to avoid the collision until it was too late. He admitted to Officer Hare that he was going 40 m.p.h. in a 20 m.p.h. zone when he entered the intersection. Justesen's reckless conduct in racing into the intersection at 40 m.p.h. conclusively shows he had no intention of obeying any stop sign. To say that Justesen would have seen the stop sign and slowed down is to completely ignore the physical facts of this case. Such reasoning is based on pure speculation. Justesen saw the plaintiff's vehicle when he was at least 70 feet from the point of impact (T 106) If he had been driving at a reduced speed he could have brought his vehicle to a stop within a reasonable distance, and stopped before the impact.

Justesen's own knowledge of the intersection, coupled with his actual knowledge of the plaintiff's vehicle on the highway gave him more warning than he would have received from the stop sign. He knew of the danger

then recklessly failed to avoid it. His conduct in speeding into the intersection was the sole proximate cause of this collision. It completely cuts off any prior negligence of this defendant.

POINT II.

THE UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE SHOWS THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT NEGLIGENT

The undisputed testimony conclusively shows that on Friday evening October 28, 1960, when defendant's construction crew left the job on Highway U 100, that the stop sign was "toe-nailed" to a construction horse and placed on the northwest corner of the intersection of Highway U 100 and Second West Street. Defendant's evidence stands uncontradicted on this fact.

Grant Palfreyman, defendant's construction foreman testified:

Q. Now directing your attention to the last weekend in October which was the weekend just before Halloween do you recall if on the night of Friday, October 28 what you did if anything with regard to the stop sign on the intersection on the north side of Second West and U-100?

A. I put them all in place against these horse construction barricades before I left the project.

Q. When you put them against the construction horses, did you prop them up or nail them or what did you do with them?

A. Sometimes toe-nailed them through the two by fours. (T 126-127)

There is *no* evidence which contradicts the fact that the stop sign was in place when the defendant's crew left the area.

It is elementary that the plaintiff cannot recover unless he can show that the defendant was negligent and that such negligence was a proximate cause of his injury. *Mortensen v. First Security Bank of Utah*, 12 Utah 2d 89, 363 P. 2d 75 (Utah 1961).

The fact that the stop sign was seen down on the ground on Saturday evening October 29, some 24 hours after defendant left the area, is not evidence that the sign was left down on Friday evening October 28th. *Mere proof of the existence of a present condition generally does not raise any presumption that the same condition existed at a prior date.*

The rule stated in 31 C.J.S. p 789 Sec. 140 relating to past and future existence of a fact or condition is as follows:

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