1963

## Richard E. Ashby v. Whiting & Haymond Construction Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Counsel for the defendant has cited several cases in his Brief contending that they support the proposition that the actions of the defendant in this action were not negligent, proximately contributing to the accident. An examination of the facts of the cases cited clearly show that there is a fact situation entirely different from that of the

instant case, *Richard E. Ashby v. Whiting & Haymond*. The defendant, in citing such cases, points out an intervening act of a third person committed in such manner as to make it a superseding cause of harm to the third party and there are many cases where the intervening act can and does become a superseding cause, but a careful analysis of the law on causation and proximate cause will clearly reveal that in the instant case of *Richard E. Ashby v. Whiting & Haymond Construction Company*, with the continuing negligence of the defendant, antedating and concurring with the negligent act of the third party, *Verl Justesen*, made the actions of the defendant actor proximate cause and him a joint tortfeasor.

A statement of the law on negligence of intervening acts directly applicable to the fact situation in the instant case is contained in the *Restatement of the Law of Torts*, Vol. II Section 447 Page 1196. We quote the following:

The fact that an intervening act of a third person is negligent in itself or is done in a negligent manner does not make it a superseding cause of harm to another which the actor's negligent conduct is a substantial factor in bringing about, if

- (a) the actor at the time of his negligent conduct should have realized that a third person might so act, or
- (b) a reasonable man knowing the situation existing when the act of the third person was done would not regard it as highly extraordinary that the third person had so acted, or
- (c) the intervening act is a normal response to a situation created by the actor's conduct and the manner in which it is done is not extraordinarily negligent.

Comment on Clause (a) :

- a. The statement in Clause (a) applies where there is a realizable likelihood of such act but the likelihood is not enough in itself to make the actor's conduct negligent, the conduct being negligent because



of other and greater risks which it entails. If the realizable likelihood that a third person will act in the negligent manner in which a particular third person acts is so great as to be the risk or even one of the risks which make the actor's conduct unreasonably dangerous and therefore negligent, the case is governed by the rule stated in 449.

There was a realizable likelihood when the defendant left the stop sign down and the intersection with U-100 and Second West Street unguarded and uncontrolled by warning signs or barricade, that a third person will act in such manner as to negligently or otherwise drive into the unprotected and uncontrolled and unguarded intersection. The only purpose for having stop signs is to prevent such condition. Quoting now from Restatement of the Law of Torts, Vol. II, Section 449, Page 1202, the law is stated as follows:

If the realizable likelihood that a third person may act in a particular manner is the hazard or one of the hazards which makes the actor negligent, such an act whether innocent, negligent, intentionally tortious or criminal does not prevent the actor from being liable for harm caused thereby.

**Comment:**

a. The happening of the very event the likelihood of which makes the actor's conduct negligent and so subjects the actor to liability, cannot relieve him from liability. The duty to refrain from the act committed or to do the act omitted is imposed to protect the other from this very danger. To deny recovery because the other's exposure to the very risk, from which it was the purpose of the duty to protect him, resulted in harm to him, would be to deprive the other of all protection and to make the duty a nullity.

To further establish that there was no intervening act in the instant case constituting a superseding cause of harm, the rule on intervening force as contained in the Re-

statement of the Law of Torts, Vol. II, Section 443, Page 1189 is quoted:

An intervening act of a human being or animal which is a normal response to the stimulus of a situation created by the actor's negligent conduct, is not a superseding cause of harm to another which the actor's conduct is a substantial factor in bringing about.

**Comment:**

a. The rule stated in this Section applies not only to acts done by the person who is harmed or by a third person as a normal response to the situation created by the defendant's negligence, but also to acts of animals reacting thereto in a manner normal to them. It is not necessary that an act which is done by the person harmed or by a third person should be "reasonable"; that is, that the act should be one which a reasonable man would regard as not involving an unreasonable risk to himself or others. It is enough that the act is a normal response to the stimulus of the situation created by the actor's negligence.

The act of the third person, in this case, Verl Justesen, though negligent, was only a concurring cause and the defendant actor's negligence was still actively operating and contributing as proximate cause to the harm of the plaintiff. The law on this matter is contained in the Restatement of the Law of Torts, Sections 439-440-441, Page 1184, part of which is hereby quoted:

Section 439. If the effects of the actor's negligent conduct actively and continuously operate to bring about harm to another, the fact that the active and substantially simultaneous operation of the effects of a third person's innocent, tortious or criminal act is also a substantial factor in bringing about the harm does not protect the actor from liability.

**Comment:**

a. Although in the great majority of cases to which the rule stated in this Section is applicable, the effects of the conduct of both the actor and the third

person are in simultaneous active operation, it is not necessary that their operations shall be absolutely simultaneous. It is enough that the two are in substantially simultaneous operation, as when the effect of the conduct of one or the other has ceased its active operation immediately before the other's conduct takes active effect in harm to the other.

b. If the harm is brought about by the substantially simultaneous and active operation of the effects of both the actor's negligent conduct and of an act of a third person which is wrongful towards the other who is harmed, the conduct of each is a cause of the harm, and both the actor and the third person are liable.

The act of Verl Justesen in the instant case was not an independent force not stimulated by a situation created by the actor's conduct and accordingly, cannot be regarded as individual and intervening. Quoting from Restatement of the Law of Torts, Vol. II, Section 441, Page 1187, Comment a, the law is stated as follows:

The active operation of an intervening force may or may not be a superseding cause which relieves the actor from liability for another's harm occurring thereafter. Whether it has this effect is determined by the rules stated in 442 to 453. A force due to an act of a third person which is wrongful towards the other who is harmed may be only a contributory factor in producing the harm. If so, both the actor and the third person are concurrently liable. This is so, although the actor's conduct has ceased to operate actively and has merely created a condition which is made harmful by the operation of the intervening force set in motion by the third person's negligent or otherwise wrongful conduct.

In the instant case, the Court had the opportunity of hearing the testimony, examining the facts and listening to the witnesses and could then determine from the circumstances the likelihood of the defendant's negligent con-

duct in bringing harm to the plaintiff by stimulating the act of the third party, Justesen. The Restatement of the Law of Torts, Vol. II, Section 433, Pages 1165 and 1166 is quoted as follows:

Considerations important in determining whether negligent conduct is a substantial factor in producing harm.

The following considerations are in themselves or in combination with one another important in determining whether the actor's conduct is a substantial factor in bringing about harm to another:

- (a) the number of other factors which contribute in producing the harm and the extent of the effect which they have in producing it;
- (b) whether after the event and looking back from the harm to the actor's negligent conduct it appears highly extraordinary that it should have brought about the harm;
- (c) whether the actor's conduct has created a force or series of forces which are in continuous and active operation up to the time of the harm, or has created a situation harmless unless acted upon by other forces for which the actor is not responsible.

The comment on Clause (b) is important to the circumstances in the instant case. We quote from Page 1167, Volume II of the Restatement of the Law of Torts:

Viewing the accident after the event. A result of the actor's tortious conduct may be one which, either in its extent or the manner in which or the sequence of events through which the conduct operates to bring about the harm, is altogether different from the result which the actor at the time of his negligence recognized or should have recognized as likely to result therefrom. None the less, after the event, such a result may not appear to the court or jury to be so highly extraordinary as to prevent the actor's conduct from being a substantial factor in bringing it about. What the actor does or should expect depends upon the circumstances which he knows or should know and his forecast in the light of these circumstances as to

what is likely to happen. The court's judgment, as to whether the harm is a normal or highly extraordinary result, is made after the event with the full knowledge of all that has happened. This includes those surroundings of which at the time the actor knew nothing but which the course of events discloses to the court.

The trial court, in its findings, found under No. 4 that the employees and agents of the defendant should have reasonably foreseen that persons driving vehicles south on Second West Street and into the intersection of First North Street, would not stop or proceed with the usual caution engendered by a STOP sign in place for traffic control at such corner, and that the defendant was negligent in not replacing and maintaining such STOP sign or other appropriate traffic control device at this intersection after they had removed the STOP sign and knew that it was so removed. The defendant's such negligence proximately contributed to cause the collision, which in fact resulted, and consequently, the defendant's such negligence caused and contributed to the plaintiff's injuries and damages complained of in his complaint.

In the light of all of the testimony, the supporting cases and the substantive law, and with the requirement that on appeal the court is required to review the matter in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, there is nothing presented by the defendant's Brief to change the ruling of the trial court. In the *Haarstrich v. Oregon Short Line* case 70 Utah 552, 262 Pac. 100, (Utah 1927); the case of *Hillyard v. Utah By-Products Co.* 1 Utah 2d 143, 263 P. 2d 287 (Utah 1953); the case of *Toma v. Utah Power and Light Co.* 12 Utah 2d 278, 365 P. 2d 788, and *Velasquez v. Greyhound Lines*, 12 Utah 2d 379, 366 P. 2d 989, each of the fact situations are entirely different from the instant case. In the *Toma - Utah Power and Light* case, the Utah Power and Light Company merely continued to have power continuing through their lines and the



Mountain States Construction Company had knowledge that Utah Power and Light had refused to cut it off. There was no continuing negligence against Utah Power and Light as there is against Whiting Haymond Construction Company in the instant case. In the *Velasquez v. Greyhound Lines* case, it appears from the court decision and the facts that the driver of the semi-trailer was never negligent to the point of being proximate cause, but that the Greyhound Bus Company, as the Whiting Haymond Company, was guilty of negligence proximately contributing to the accident. In the *Haarstrich v. Oregon Short Line* case, the facts showed that it was doubtful that there was any negligence on the part of the railroad in the operation of their lights and if so, it had nothing to do with the accident. In the instant case the removal of the STOP sign by the defendant company was definitely negligent. It precipitated and stimulated the negligent act of the third party, Justesen, and the concurring negligence of both caused the injuries to the plaintiff.

The case at Bar is more nearly in line with the later Supreme Court Case, *Nyman v. Cedar City*, *Supra*.

As to the cases which the defendant quotes relating to past and future existence of a fact or condition, we have no quarrel whatsoever with the decision in those cases, but the fact situation of the instant case does not require the proof of a present condition or state of facts at a given time as being a presumption that the same condition or facts existed at a prior date. In the instant case, Trooper Gayle Rasmussen testified that the STOP sign had remained down for several days prior to the accident (T 105), and in answer to the defense counsel's cross examination: "During that week did you see it down on the ground with your own eyes", the answer was: "Yes, I did". City Employee, Maxim Thornton hauled trash passed the area where the STOP sign was supposed to be on the morning of the accident. He testified that there was not a STOP sign or a construction horse (T 71). He

passed the area in his work daily and stated that the STOP sign had been down most of the week before the accident. (T 67) Everett Ashman, property owner on the northwest corner of the intersection stated that the STOP sign was down laying on the ditch bank for approximately a week during the last week in October (T 79). The STOP sign was down on the ground the night of the accident, according to Trooper Rasmussen. (T 109, 110) We are not required to make any presumption when we have direct testimony that the STOP sign was down at the time of the accident and had remained down according to three different witnesses for several days prior thereto. Maxim Thornton specifically stating that on October 27, 28 and 29th the STOP sign was down. (T 75 ).

Under the abundance of evidence, there is no question but what defendant Whiting Haymond Construction Company was negligent. That the negligence proximately contributed to the accident and that they were a contributing tortfeasor with Verl Justesen, and the rule of negligence cited in American Jurisprudence, Vol. 38, Page 726, Sec. 69 is as follows:

The general rule is that whoever acts negligently is answerable for all the consequences that may ensue in the ordinary course of events, even though such consequences are immediately and directly brought about by an intervening cause, if such intervening cause was set in motion by the original wrongdoer. An intervening cause does not operate to exempt a defendant from liability under a wrongful death statute, if that cause is put into operation by the defendant's wrongful act. One who is responsible for disorder in a crowd is liable for injuries suffered by a member of the crowd as a consequence of the disorderly acts.

As to contributing tortfeasors, the Restatement of the Law of Torts, Vol. 4, Page 875 provides that "Each of 2 or more persons whose tortious conduct is a legal cause of a harm to another, is liable to the other for the entire harm".

## CONCLUSION

The employees and agents of the defendant removed the STOP sign at Second West and U-100 while they were in the process of doing construction work. That they left it down for several days prior to the accident and the day of the accident. That it was laying in the general area on the ground and seen by several witnesses. The employees and agents of the defendant should have reasonably foreseen that persons driving vehicles south along Second West Street into the intersection of U-100 would not proceed with the caution engendered by a STOP sign in place on the northwest corner of the intersection for traffic control. That the absence of the STOP sign, leaving an unguarded intersection, it was natural and foreseeable that a collision would and could occur. The defendant's negligence proximately contributed to the cause of the collision and to the plaintiff's injuries. The judgment of the lower court should be affirmed. To reason otherwise would be to say that traffic control signals are unnecessary and useless and to remove them or obliterate them is a harmless act.